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Experian Limited
Strategic report

for the year ended 31 March 2021
Activities and business model

Experian Limited (‘the Company’) is a member of the Experian plc Group (‘the Group’) and is its main UK operating
subsidiary.

Our principal activity is to provide data and analytical tools to clients, who use them to manage credit risk, prevent
fraud, target marketing offers and automate decision-making. We also help individuals to manage their credit
relationships and protect against identity theft.

We are organised across two main business activities: Business-to-Business (‘B2B’) and Consumer Services. B2B
comprises two sub-sections — Data and Decisioning. Descriptions of each of the business activities, their competitive
environments and market influences, together with an overview of the Group’s business model and strategy, can be
found on! pages 20 to 37 of the Experian plc Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2021 (the ‘Experian Annual
Report’), which does not form part of this report.

Review of the business

The UK business proved resilient in the face of the chailenges caused by the COVID-19 pandemic. We made good
progress with our transformation programme as we continue to simplify and modernise our technology estate and
resume profitable growth. Full year revenue in the UK was £551m. Total revenue growth was (4%). B2B declined
by 4% and Consumer Services declined by 6% as the wider economic disruption impacted trading. However, we
exited the final quarter with total revenue growth of 1% and delivered much-improved margin performance in H2
compared to H1.

Revenues in B2B were down for much of the year due to reductions in UK bank consumer lending and reduced
demand for software investment. We successfully pivoted towards COVID-19 support propositions, including
supporting government loan schemes and, as a result, business credit volumes remained robust. Transaction volumes
strengthened towards the end of the year as lenders reactivated programmes.

Consumer Services also had a difficult year, however we were able to launch strategic new product initiatives and
saw a promising trajectory across membership and transactions later in the year.

The profit for the financial year was £7m (2020: £32m) which reflected the one-off impairment charges taken during
the year and a partial flow through impact of the reduction in revenue due to the COVID-19 pandemic. The Company
was able to absorb the impact of COVID-19 pandemic without seeking any Government support and no employees
were placed on furlough. Independent to the impact of the pandemic, the Company executed on an operational
restructure during the year. This restructuring, together with a reduction in future amortisation relating to the
impairment, should improve profitability in future years.

¢«

Results and dividends
The 2021 results and the financial position at the year-end are considered satisfactory by the directors.

No interim dividends were paid in the financial period under review. An interim dividend of £204.10 per share, whose
total cost amounted to £100m was paid in the prior financial year.

Post balance sheet events
The directors note that there has been no material event since the balance sheet date.
Principal risks and uncertainties

The management of the business and the execution of our strategy are subject to a number of risks. The principal
risks and uncertainties the Group faces, together with the main means by which they are managed or mitigated, are
set out on pages 72 to 80 of the Experian Annual Report. The key business risks and uncertainties affecting the
Company are consistent with the Group and are considered to relate to data security, information systems and
regulation.

Since 1 April 2014 the UK Financial Conduct Authority (‘FCA’) has regulated UK credit reference bureaux. The
Company was granted full permission in February 2017. The Company continues to face increasing regulatory
compliance risk related to consumer protection and privacy, and continues to refine compliance strategies in response
to the developing requirements of the FCA. )

The continued disruption of COVID-19 has impacted several of our principal risks, the details of which are set out on
pages 72 to 80 of the Experian Annual Report. During the year, we implemented multiple senior management steering
groups to understand, analyse and seek to mitigate the impact of COVID-19. Our first priority continues to be the
health, safety and well-being of our employees, clients and consumers.
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Strategic report (continued)

During the year we have received a final enforcement notice from the UK Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO)
with respect to an audit they have carried out. Further information it provided in note 30.

Key performance indicators

As the Company’s relevant risks are managed on a Group or divisional basis, the directors believe that analysis using
key performance indicators for the Company in isolation is not necessary or appropriate for an understanding of its
development, performance or position. Information on the Group’s key performance indicators is given on pages 16
and 17 of the Experian Annual Report.

Section 172(1) Statement and engagement with stakeholders

Section 172 defines the duties of company directors and concerns the duty to promote the success of companies. In
the year ended 31 March 2021, the directors of the Company continued to exercise these duties while having regard
to the s172 matters, and also to other relevant factors as they reviewed and considered proposals from sentor
management, and as they governed the Company through the-Board and its committees. The s172 matters are also
considered across the wider Experian Group in the review of relevant proposals.

The Company and the Experian Group depend on the trust and confidence of its stakeholders to operate sustainably
in the long term. We seek to put consumers and customers’ best interests first, invest in employees, support the
communities in which we operate and strive to generate sustainable profits.

The Company is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Experian plc and, as such, the ways in which s172 matters are
considered by the Company are materially similar to the ways those matters are considered throughout the Experian
Group. Examples of how the Group engaged with stakeholders are detailed on page 57 of the Experian Annual Report.

An example of how the Board had regard to matters set out in section 172(1)(a)~(f) when discharging its duties during
the year ended 31 March 2021, and the effect of that on decisions taken by it, is the long-term funding for the Company.
Throughout the year, the Board assessed the strength of the Company’s balance sheet and future prospects relative to
uncertainties in the external environment. During the financial year ended 31 March 2021, the Board were aware that
the Company’s main debt funding was in the form of loan notes issued to a Group company Experian Finance plc,
totalling £500 million. It was recommended that the company enter into a new Committed Facility in the amount of
£100 million. In making this decision, the Board considered a range of factors. These included the long-term viability
of the Company, its expected cash flows and financing requirements as well as the expectation of the sole shareholder.
The Board also recognises that government, including regulators, are a key stakeholder of the Company, and the Board
receives regular updates on all regulator interactions and convenes ad hoc meetings when required for'any*aterial
decision related to regulation. C T e

The Group’s vision, purpose and values and sustainability strategy, which includes engagement with the community
and protection of the environment, are set out in the Experian Annual Report (pages 26 to 56), and the Group’s
governance framework, which is consistent with the 2018 UK Corporate Governance Code, applied to the Company
during the year. Further information on the Company’s own governance arrangements appear below. In addition, the
Company relies on resources made available by the Group including staff and suppliers who are respectively employed
and contracted by other Group entities.

The Directors consider the likely consequences of any decision in the long-term and, as a member of the Experian
Group, the Company complies with Group policies consistent with the Group’s culture in all key areas including
supplier management and outsourcing, customer conduct, human resources and the environment.

The Directors and management operate the business in a responsible manner with the aim of ensuring that the
Company maintains a reputation for high standards of business conduct and good governance. There is a Group Code
of Conduct which applies to the Company and which embodies the Group’s culture, purpose and values. The Code of
Conduct provides guidance to the Company’s employees and contractors on the high standards of professional and
ethical conduct expected of them and aims to preserve the Group’s and the Company’s reputation for high standards
of conduct. The Company publishes a Modern Slavery Statement each year and it can be found here
https://www .experian.co.uk/responsibilities/corporate-responsibility/slavery-and-human-traffic-statement.

. .
LT

D J Bates
Director

6 October 2021
The Company’s registered number is 00653331.



Experian Limited
Directors’ report

The directors present their report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2021. Experian
Limited’s registered number is 00653331. The Company is required to prepare a separate strategic report that contains
certain information equivalent to that required in this directors’ report.

Likely future developments

The external commercial environment is expected to remain competitive for the remainder of 2021 and 2022 but the
directors remain confident that the Company will continue to trade profitably in the future. -
Financial risk management

The directors monitor the risks facing the Company with reference to its exposure to foreign exchange, interest rate,
price, credit, and liquidity. They are confident that there are suitable policies in place and there are no material risks
and uncertainties which have not been considered. The mast significant of these risks is credit risk.

The Company has processes that require appropriate credit checks on potential clients and customers before sales are
made. The amount of exposure to any counterparty is subject to a limit, which is reassessed periodically.

Most aspects of exposures to foreign exchange, interest rate, and liquidity risk are managed on a Group basis and are
discussed in note 7 to the Group financial statements of Experian plc in the Experian Annual Report.

The Company has no significant exposure to funding or liquidity risks. It meets its day-to-day working capital
requirements through borrowings, as required, from group companies, and through its cash balances. The Group
ensures that the Company has access to sufficient funds for operations and planned growth.

Going Concern

Details of the adoption of the going concern basis in preparation of the Company financial statements are set out in
note 2 and are incorporated into this report by reference.

Directors )

The directors holding office during the year and up to the date of this report were: ‘ s ""\-’"""'5?‘ i
J M Cattanach -

S J Deane

D J Bates

S M Cooper

JL T Rossi (appointed 7 April 2020)

Mr Cooper and Mr Deane are independent non-executive directors.

Insurance and third party indemnification

During the year and up to the date of signing of this report the Company, through the Group, maintained liability
insurance and third party indemnification provisions (which are a qualifying third party indemnity provision for the
purposes of the Companies Act 2006) for its directors and the company secretary.

Research and development

Research and product development are a high priority in driving the Company’s growth. However, certain
development costs are borne by Experian Technology Limited, a fellow group company, which owns the rights to the
related intellectual property and licences its use to the Company.

Employee involvement
1«/ L, e

Experian Limited regularly reviews its employment policies and processes. The Company promotes a hc.althy and
safe working environment and is committed to the contiriuous-dévelopment of its people.

The Company is committed to employee involvement throughout the business and is intent on motivating and keeping
staff informed on matters that concern them in the context of their employment and involving them through local
consultative procedures. Employees are kept well informed on matters of concern and the financial and economic
factors affecting the Company’s and Group’s performance through management channels, virtual conferences and
meetings, publications, and an internal social media news platform.

Experian continues to support employee share ownership through the provision of save as you eamn, and other
employee share plan arrangements intended to align the interests of employees with those of shareholders.
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Employee engagement statement

The Company values the wellbeing of employees. A series of Experian Group Global People ‘Pulse Surveys’ were
carried out throughout the pandemic initially on a monthly then quarterly basis. All employees of the Company were
invited to participate. The results were communicated regularly across the UK & Ireland region and action plans were
put in place to address any concerns identified. The UK’s listening strategy continues to evolve. In June 2021,
Experian Globally participated in the ‘Great Place to Work Survey’ and received accreditation in the UK and Ireland.
In addition, the business continues to invest in understanding employee sentiment and during key moments of the
employee lifecycle e.g. new joiners (30 days), onboarding (90 days), exit (voluntary leavers) as well as surveys to
People Managers for recent hires.

In order to enable all colleagues to bring their whole selves to work, the Company has a number of employee network
groups (Black at Experian, Pride network, Working Families, Women in Experian, Menopause Community, Autistic
Employees of Experian, Islamic Faith Network, Christian Group, everyMind, STEM network, Reach network,
Disability network). These groups provide support, education and strategic counsel. Our Wellbeing strategy supports
our colleagues mental, physical and financial wellbeing through a set of core and flexible benefits, resources,
education and support.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, we introduced a strategic narrative in the form of a Story. A Story that
allowed us to set the context for the critical work that we must do to rediscover our entrepreneurial spirit and desire
to win. [t articulates our vision, the commitments we have made as a leadership team and provides the context for
our new ways of working — a Story the whole business can get behind.

In teams and across each business area, we have used the Story as a shared reference point and common purpose, to
help set the context for our strategy. In FY?22, we have again aligned our UK&I goals to the Commitments made in
the Story.

The Company believes that the engagement and morale of employees, and their pride in working for the Company, is
linked to its reputation within the community. The Group and the Company seek to align their giving with their
employees’ interest through social committees and volunteering days.

In April 2020, we introduced a new global social media platform, as part of our pandemic response and in order to
help us maintain engagement and deliver regular communication on a single platform. It also gave employees a forum
in which to share information and exchange views.

The Company firmly believes in the value of employee share ownership and encourages employees to.participate in
the Experian Group’s Sharesave offering, which is a tax efficient plan in the UK: & Ireland and allows.employees ta
share in the Experian Group’s growth and success. Around 67% of UK & Ireland employees participate in Sharesave
and the average profit received by UK employees at maturity during the year ended 31 March 2021 was £5,125.
Experian has been a Living Wage employer in the United Kingdom since 2015.

One of the Groups guiding principles is to protect our people — the wellbeing of our people is paramount — protecting
our employee’s physical and mental health, as well as keeping our clients and suppliers safe and healthy. To work
with either the Company or the Group, suppliers must accept our ethical standards or confirm they have equivalent
standards in place. We conduct risk assessments and any suppliers identified as high risk for bribery or corruption are
referred to the Compliance team for further due diligence, including an assessment of corruption, regulatory and
reputational risks.

Our diverse, equitable and inclusive (DEI) Agenda

A diverse, equitable and inclusive workplace is integral to our purpose and ultimately to our success as a business.
We want to be one of the best companies, in the world, to work for. Creating an environment where people of all
backgrounds have the support to grow and succeed is a prerequisite for this. This also means we can set the pace and
ultimately ensure that we have the policies, practices, structures, inclusive culture and mindset to shift representation
in minority groups and provide equality of opportunity.

Employment of people with disabilities

People with disabilities have equal opportunities when applying for vacancies. In addition to co’rﬁp'ljihg' with
legislative requirements, procedures are in place to ensure that disabled employees are treated fairly and that their
training and career development needs are carefully managed For those employees becoming dlsabled during the
course of their employment, the Company is supportive, whether through retraining or redeployment, so as to provide
an opportunity for them to remain with the Company whenever possible.
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Statement of corporate governance arrangements : TRt e

The Companies (Miscellaneous Reporting) Regulations 2018.introduced a number of new reporting requiféfllénts for
financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2019. One of the requirements was for companies of a significant size
to disclose their corporate governance arrangements in the Directors’ report. The financial year ended 31 March 2021
is the Company’s second reporting year under the new requirement. The Company is required to state which formal
governance code, if any, it applied during the year (and how it was applied) or, if it has not applied any corporate
governance code, explain why one was not applied and the corporate governance arrangements for the year.

The Board considered and discussed the recommendation of management, noting that it was a wholly-owned
subsidiary of a FTSE100 premium-listed company (Experian plc) that applies the UK Corporate Governance Code
(the “Code”), and the existing high governance standards in the Group (which are equally applicable to the Company,
and which include a Global Delegated Authorities Matrix, supported by regional matrices, and robust governance
structures within the Group (including the Group Operating Committee, the Executive Risk Management Committee,
the Assurance Steering Committee, the Security & Continuity Steering Committee, the Tax & Treasury Committee
and the Global Strategic Projects Committee)). The Board noted that these Group governance forums were in place
in some form at a regional level, and were comprised of the most senior regional executives, and in addition that there
were already robust governance structures in place within the Company itself, which include: -

A Board which includes independent Non-Executive Directors/Chairman.
Audit and Remuneration Committees comprised of independent Non-Executive Directors.

A formal Schedule of Matters Reserved to the Board, and formal committee terms of refetence.x . !

e 4T
o

A UK & Ireland Executive Governance Maanual...~ * T

o a0 o

The UK & Ireland Risk Management Committee, which is comprised of senior regional executives and
oversees the management of regional risks.

With all the above in place, the Board concluded that the adoption of a formal governance code would not materially
enhance the corporate governance of the Company itself, and it resolved that the Company would not adopt a corporate
governance code and instead explain the arrangements for corporate governance that were applied by the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2021.

The aim (of this report on corporate governance arrangements is to explain in clear terms the governance processes
and procedures that are in place in the Company, which are essential for the delivery of the long-term sustainable
success of the Company. These processes ensure we report in line with all applicable laws and regulations and consider
the requirements of our relevant stakeholders in Board discussions and decision-making.

The Board
The Board is made up of two independent Non-Executive Directors and three Executive Directors.

The Chairman of the Company is Steven Cooper, an independent Non-Executive Director. The other members of the
Board are Jose Luiz Rossi (Managing Director), David Bates (Chief Financial Officer), Julia Cattanach (Chief Risk
Officer) and Stuart Deane (independent Non-Executive Director). Stuart Deane is the chairman of both the, Audit and
Remuneration Committees, and both independent Non-Executive Directors are the only members of both the Audit
and Remuneration Committees. Sl ’

Soon after appointment, Independent Non-Executive Directors receive comprehensive induction. The inductions
include business sessions (including Business-to-Business, Consumer Services and the Data Office). Sessions are also
provided. on risk management, legal, compliance and regulation, People, internal and external audit, and a financial
overview.

The Boatd is responsible for setting the Company’s strategy and ensuring that the necessary resources are available
for long-term sustainable success. During the year, senior management discusses the proposed strategic plan with the
Board, including clarity of purpose around the key roles that Experian plays in society and our associated
responsibilities. This working session allows the Non-Executive Directors to provide their expertise and experience
as the strategy is being developed, before considering it for approval.

The budget discussions during the year ensure that we have the right resources to deliver the agreed strategy, taking
into consideration this year the changing economic outlook due to COVID-19. The Board monitors management and
financial performance against the Company’s objectives. To enable it to do this, the Board receives updates on
financial matters, at and between every scheduled Board meeting, as well as important updates on regulatory matters.
The Board is responsible for establishing procedures to manage risk, overseeing the internal control framework, and

N 'r'&ﬁk'.\s ™
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Directors’ report (continued)

determining the nature and extent of the principal risks the Company is willing to take to achieve its strategic
objectives.

The Board meets sufficiently frequent to discharge its duties and holds additional meetings when required, for example
to revxew specific investment proposals. Board committee meetings take place on the same day as scheduled Board
meetmgs Spending this time together further enhances the effectiveness of the Board and its committees and
contributes to the cohesive and collegiate Board culture.

Attendance at Board and committee meetings . DT U

Board "7 Audit Remuneration

Committee Committee

Current directors

Steve Cooper 1/1 5/5 3/3
José Luiz Bossi 1/m n/a n/a
David Bates 11/11 n/a n/a
Julia Cattanach 11/11 n/a n/a
Stuart Dee;re 11711 5/5 3/3

The Board has reserved decisions about certain key activities to itself, including:

A. Strategy and management — Formulating, approving and executing key policy and strategl‘c matters,
formulating, determmmg, approving, setting, monitoring, rev1ew1ng and altering the direction of.the t buslness

B. Customers - Evaluating the business of the Company t6 ensure that customers are consistently treated fairly
and in such a way that they may have confidence when dealing with the Company.

C. Structure and capital — Any increase in the share capital or loan capital of the Company or the issue of any
warrants or other securities.

D. Financial reporting and controls — The approval of the audited annual accounts.

E. Contracts — Entering into any joint venture, alliance or collaboration agreement, or any similar agreement likely

to have a material effect on the business, entering into any material outsource arrangement, the commencement
of a new business line or any contract between the Company or any subsidiary or Director.

F. Rxsk Regulation, Compliance, Internal controls — Evaluating the risk profile of the Company and executing
strategles to mitigate risk, reviewing the Company’s compliance with regulation, reviewing reports from the
Head of Compliance and Chief Risk Officer.

G. Board membership/Delegation of authority/Corporate governance matters/Policies — approval of changes to
Bo'ard composition, delegation to the Directors, the UK & Ireland Executive team and others certain
responsnbllmes and powers of the Board, reviewing governance arrangements, establishing and revnewmg
p011c1es for the recruitment, training and performance evaluation of employees and noting and approving
relevant policies.

Actlvmes of the Board during the year ended 31 March 2021: - .

BTN "! -
HOIAN
[P O

- Evaluated and discussed the proposed UK & Ireland strategic plan w1th senior management at the-formulation
stage and later approved the UK & Ireland strategic plan.

- Rewewed operational and financial updates from the Managing Director and the Chief Financial Officer at
each scheduled Board meeting

- Rewviewed and discussed regulatory updates with the Chief Risk Officer at each scheduled Board meeting, and
received regular updates on regulatory matters, including updates on ongoing engagement.

- Revjewed and approved risk appetite statements for the Company.

- Réviewed and approved the annual report and accounts and letter of representation, entry into a loan note
instrument, transfer pricing matters, reporting currency and Experian Group recharges.
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- Received and discussed the FY21 Budget overview presentation, including productivity enhancements.

- At each scheduled meeting, discussed updates from management on risk management (including top risks and
culture), information security, business continuity, and compliance (including financial crime reporting).

- Received updates and discussed with management the review by the Financial Conduct Authority of the
Company’s governance, systems and controls.

- Considered and debated briefings and updates from management regarding the ongoing discussions and
engagement with the Information Commissioner’s Office on the 2018 audit of several companies including the
Company, under the EU General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) on the use of data for marketing purposes.

- Re.viewed and approved the Modern Slavery Act statement for publication on the Company’s website.

- Re%newed the Company’s Executive Governance Manual, and the Global Treasury Policy & Treasury
Management standards and Risk Management Policy.

- Rev;ewed Directors’ conflicts of interest, and corporate governance updates. .

Experian| plc provides each subsidiary company with access to resources and provides policies in all key ‘areas such
as financg, risk, human resources and the environment. These central resources and policies are aligned to the Group’s
govemance framework, which is consistent with the UK Corporate Governance Code. During the year, the Company
complied with the Group’s governance framework. The full details of the Group’s wider governance framework can
be found on page 93 of the Experian Annual Report.

Audit Corflmittee

Stuart Deane is the chairman of the Audit Committee and has chaired the Committee since it was established in 2016.
Both members of the Committee are Independent Non-Executive Directors and the Board considers them to have an
appropriate level of experience and expertise. The Committee met five times during the year, with each scheduled
meeting timed to coincide with key dates in the financial reporting and audit cycle. Regular attendees at the meetings
included the Executive Directors, Regional Head of Internal Audit and representatives from KPMG LLP (the external
auditor). :

The Board believes the Audit Committee to be a central pillar for effective corporate governance by providing
independent and impartial oversight of the Company’s financial reporting, and internal and external audit. As a
Committee, responsibilities include: -

- Momtonng the integrity of the ﬁnanmal statements and reviewing significant financial reporting judgments
contained in them. :

- Reviewing the effectiveness of the external audit process’ including the independence and objectivity of the
external audltor

- Mc_)mtormg the Company’s internal audit arrangements, including approval of the internal audit annual plan
andjensuring that the function is adequately resourced and ensuring that the Company is responsive to audit
findings.

The actiVitie»s of the Committee during the year ended 31 March 2021 included: -

- Ani Internal Audit update was presented by the Regional Head of Internal Audit at each meeting, and discussed
by the Committee, including the status of the audit plan, audit findings and themes in the reporting period, and
progress on any overdue audit actions.

- Reviewed the terms of reference of Internal Audit and of the Committee.
- Evaiuated the performance of Internal Audit.

- Considered the 2021 external audit plan with the external auditor, including its scope and materiality. The plan
included the external auditor’s response to developments in the business during the year, developments in the
audit process, the Group’s risk assessment and the coverage of the audit.

- Discussed and approved the 2020 annual report and accounts, and associated papers/management updates.

- Debated with the external auditor their review of the-2020 annual report and accounts, and-reviewed the
representation letter and independence considerations.

- Reviewed non-audit fees, and the Group’s non-audit fee policy.
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Directors’ report (continued)

- Reviewed Confidential Helpline updates.

- Received and considered updates on access management and a loss event from senior executlves‘ .
Hodags

Remuneration Commlttee : - R

T P U S
Stuart Deane is also the chairman of the Remuneration Committee, which he has chaired since it was éstablished in
2016. Both members of the Committee are independent Non-Executive Directors. The Committee met three times
during the year. Regular attendees include the Managing Director and the HR Director UK & Ireland. Each year the
Commxtteer terms of reference are reviewed and updated if considered appropriate.

The respon51b111t1es of the Committee include: -
- Revllewmg the Experian global remuneration policy, to ensure alignment to the Company.

- Appllng and overseeing the implementation of any major changes in the Company’s employee benefit
structure

- Ensurmg control function employees of the Company are adequately and objectively remunerated.
- Rev;lewmg and approving the remuneration packages of the Executive Directors.
During tlzlegyear ended 31 March 2021, the Committee: -

- Recleived an update on the FY20 rating distribution for the UK & Ireland.

- Dlscussed and approved the UK & Ireland Reward Policy. .
- Consxdered an update from management on driving high performance in the busmess Tustas

- Rev1ewed and approved remuneration proposals (bonus” oufturn and outcomes, salary, long-terms 1ncent1ves)
for the Managing Director, Chief Financial Officer and Chief Risk Officer.

- Agreed bonus metrics for compliance and risk employees of the Company, reviewed Company incentive plan
m',easures, and considered interim bonus performance outcomes.

- Réceived and considered updates on Gender Pay Gap reporting.
- Approved the FY21 bonus for executives
1

Risk management and internal control

" The full ;delails of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems and processes can be found in the Risk
management section of the Experian Annual Report (Strategic Report — page 72)

Stakehol!tiér engagement

The Boald‘ fully recognises the importance of considering the Company’s responsibilities and duties to both its
shareholder;s and stakeholders as defined in section 172 of the UK Companies Act'2006. All material business cases
considered /in the Experian Group, including the Company (for example, mergers, acquisitions and major capital
1nvestrnenté) include an analysis of stakeholder impact considerations, anticipated impact and mitigations. This process
helps the relevant board to perform the duties outlined in section 172 of the UK Compames Act 2006 and |_provides
assurance to that board that potential impacts on stakeholders have been considered in the déVelopment of proposals

Informatlon on stakeholder engagement for the wider Experian Group is provided on pages 24 and 94 to 96 of the Expenan
Annual R_ep,ort

o e v e

¢
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Statement of directors’ responsibilities in respect of the strategic report, the dlrectors report and the ﬁnancnal
statements o

The directors are responsible for preparing the strategic report, the directors’ report and the ﬁnancial Statements in
accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law they have
elected tp prepare the financial statements in accordance with UK accounting standards and applicable law (UK
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), including FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework.

Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a

true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that period. In

preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:

. select"suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

. mal;(ejjudgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

e state whether applicable UK accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures
disélosed and explained in the financial statements;

e assess the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
congern; and

*  use; the going concemn basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease
operatlons, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. “ i< <N g e

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting.records that are sufficient to show and éxplain the

Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and

enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are responsible for

such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and have general responsibility for taking such steps as are

reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the Company and to prevent and detect fraud and other

irregularitit;as.

Statementlof disclosure of information to auditor

As at the, d‘!:dte this report was signed, so far as each director is aware:

e there ig no relevant audit information of which the auditor is unaware; and
e each director has taken all steps that they ought to have taken as a director in order to make themselves aware of
any relevant audit information and to establish that the auditor is aware of that information.
i

Auditor: :

In accordance with Section 487 of the Companies Act 2006, the auditor will be deemed to be reappointed and KPMG
LLP will! tl}erefore continue in office.

2

By order of the board

WVL(/

D J Bates
Director:

re

6 October 2021

TR s
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Experian Limited
Independent auditor’s report to the members of Experian Limited
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Experian Limited (“the company”) for the year ended 31 March 2021
which comprise the Profit and Loss Account, Statement of Comprehensive Income, Balance Sheet, Statement of
Changes in Equity and related notes, including the accounting policies in note 3.

In our opinion the financial statements:

e give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 March 2021 and of its profit for the year
then ended,

e have been properly prepared in accordance with UK accounting standards, including FRS 101 Reduced
Disclosure Framework; and

¢ have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.
Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) and applicable
law. Our responsibilities are described below. We have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities under, and are
independent of the company in accordance with, UK ethical requirements including the FRC Ethical Standard. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is a sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion.

Going concern

The directors have prepared the financial statements on the going concern basis as they do not intend to liquidate the
company or to cease its operations, and as they have concluded that the company’s financial position means that this
is realistic. They have also concluded that there are no material uncertainties that could have cast significant doubt
over its ability to continue as a going concern for at least a year from the date of approval of the financial statements
(“the going concern period”).

In our evaluation of the directors’ conclusions, we considered the inherent risks to the company’s business model and
analysed how those risks might affect the company’s financial resources or ability to continue operations over the
going concern period.

Our conclusions based on this work:

¢ we consider that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial
statements is appropriate;

¢ we have not identified, and concur with the directors’ assessment that there is not, a material uncertc_l‘mty related
to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the company's ability to
continue as a going concern for the going concern period.

However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result in outcomes that -
are inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made, the above conclusions are not a
guarantee that the company will continue in operation.

Fraud and breaches of laws and regulations — ability to detect

To identify risks of material misstatement due to fraud (“fraud risks™) we assessed events or conditions that could
indicate an incentive or pressure to commit fraud or provide an opportunity to commit fraud. Our risk assessment
procedures included:

e Enquiring of directors, internal audit and inspection of policy documentation as to the Company’s high-level
policies and procedures to prevent and detect fraud, including the internal audit function, and the Company’s
channel for “whistleblowing”, as well as whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged
fraud.

s Reading Board and Audit Committee meeting minutes.
¢ Considering remuneration incentive schemes and performance targets.
o Using analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships. =~ v e

We communicated identified fraud risks throughout the audlt team and remained alert to any mdlcatlons of fraud
throughout the audit.

As required by auditing standards, and taking into account possible pressures to meet profit targets, we perform
procedures to address the risk of management override of controls and the risk of fraudulent revenue recognition, in

11



Experian Limited
Independent auditor’s report to the members of Experian Limited (continued)

particular the risk that Software Licence and Professional Services revenue is recorded in the wrong period and the
risk that management may be in a position to make inappropriate accounting entries.

o

We did not identify any additional fraud risks. . - BRI

In determining the audit procedures we took into account the results of our evaluation and testing of the operating
effectiveness of some of the Company-wide fraud risk management controls.

We also performed procedures including:

* Identifying journal entries to test based on risk criteria and comparing the identified entries to supporting
documentation. These included those posted by senior finance management, those posted to unusual accounts,
and those with unusual descriptions.

e Assessing significant accounting estimates for bias.
Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement due to non-compliance with laws and regulations

We identified areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably be expected to have a material effect on the financial
statements from our general commercial and sector experience, and through discussion with the directors and other
management (as required by auditing standards), and from inspection of the Company’s regulatory and legal
correspondence and discussed with the directors and other management the policies and procedures regarding
compliance with laws and regulations.

We communicated identified laws and regulations throughout our team and remained alert to any indications of non-
compliance throughout the audit.

The potential effect of these laws and regulations on the financial statements varies considerably.

Firstly, the Company is subject to laws and regulations that directly affect the financial statements including financial
reporting legislation (including related companies legislation), distributable profits legislation, taxation legislation,
and pension lesislation and we assessed the extent of compliance with these laws and regulations as part of our
procedures on the related financial statement items.

Secondly, the Company is subject to many other laws and regulations where the consequences of non-compliance
could have a material effect on amounts or disclosures in the financial statements, for instance through the imposition
of fines or litigation. We identified the following areas as those most likely to have such an effect: data protection
legislation, health and safety, anti-bribery, employment law, and certain aspects of company legislation recognising
the nature of the Company’s activities. Auditing standards limit the required audit procedures to identify non-
compliance with these laws and regulations to enquiry of the directors and other management and inspection of
regulatory and legal correspondence, if any. Therefore if a breach of operational regulations is not disclosed to us or
evident fi'om relevant correspondence, an audit will not detect that breach.

For the ICO matter discussed in note 30 we assessed disclosures against our understandmg from legal correspondence.
Context of the ability of the audit to detect fraud or breaches of law or regulation

Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that we may not have detected some material
misstatements in the financial statements, even though we have properly planned and performed our audit in
accordance with auditing standards. For example, the further removed non-compliance with laws and regulations is
from the events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely the inherently limited procedures
required by auditing standards would identify it.

In addition, as with any audit, there remained a higher risk of non-detection of fraud, as these may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls. Our audit procedures are
designed to detect material misstatement. We are not responsible for preventing non-compliance or fraud and cannot
be expected to detect non-compliance with all laws and regulations.

Strategic report and directors’ report

The directors are responsible for the strategic report and the directors’ report. Our opinion on the financial statements
does not cover those reports and we do not express an audit opinion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the strategic report and the directors’ report and, in doing so, consider whether, based on
our financial statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with the financial
statements or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work:

e we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report and the directors’ report;
|
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Experian Limited
Independent auditor’s report to the members of Experlan Limited (contlnued)

e in our opinion the information given in those reports .for the financial year is consistent with the ﬁnanc1a1
statements and

¢ in our opinion those reports have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.
Matters on which we are required to report by exception
j
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:
¥

e adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from
branches not visited by us; or

l v: . . « -
. the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
° certam disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
. we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

We have:n_othmg to report in these respects.

Directors’ responsibilities

As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 10, the directors are responsible for: the prepavatidcof the
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view; such internal control as they determme
is necessary to enable the preparatlon of financial statements tht are free from material misstatement, whethet 'due‘f
fraud or error; assessing the company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern; and using the going concem basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the company

or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
Auditor’s responsibilities

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue our opinion in an auditor’s report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK)
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered. material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

A  fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FRC’s website at
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.

The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities

et L
This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16,.0f. ;he

Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so-that we might state to the company’s members.those
matters wejare required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted
by law, weido not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s members, as
a body, for.our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Adam C‘raig (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor

Chartered Accountants

St Nicholas House

Park Row -
Nottingha:nfl
NG1 6FQ
‘ . . v""‘s’m‘fmu  veer
13 October 2021 o g LS PRVIREA
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Expe;riﬁn Limited
Profit and loss account

for the y;ea:r ended 31 March 2021
b

Pt

;1

; 2021 2020
L Notes £m £fm
Turnover ' 5 551 576
Staff costs 6 (262) (237)
Own work capitalised’ 54 62
:Z;?g:;:z:;rl t(1); tgaengible and intangible fixed assets, excluding 10 , 59) , « (s4)
Impairmenit of tangible and intangible fixed assets 10 @4) i
Deprecia;ti(?m and other amounts written off of tangible and (83) (54)
intangible z}ssets
Other operating charges ' (237) 292)
Operating profit 23 55
Share of profit/(loss) from investment in associate 16 3) 3
VOther interiest receivable 8 1 2
Interest pa&able and similar charges 9 10) (14)
Profit before tax . 10 11 N 4}6 4
Tax on profit 1 @ e
Profit for ithe financial year . 7 32

" Own work capitalised includes both direct and recharged labour costs. A proportion of the assets capitalised are
subsequently transferred to other subsidiaries of Experian plc.

i
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Experian Limited
Statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 March 2021

2021 2020

Notes £m £m
Profit for the financial year 7 32
Other comprehensive income: items that will not be reclassified
to profit or loss
Remeasurement losses on pension assets and obligations 26 3 10
Deferred-tax in respect of remeasurement gains 20 1) 2)
Tax recognised directly in equity on transactions with owners 20 - m
Current year tax movement through reserves 2 2
Total compreheﬂsive income for the financial year 11 41"

15



Experian Limited D
Balance sheet - el

at 31 March 2021 N
‘ 2021 2020
, Notes £m £m
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 13 244 257
Tangible assets 14 23 34
Right of use assets 14 26 23
Investments in group undertakings 15 278 298
Investment' in associate 16 44 47
Deferred tax 20 10 9
Post-employment benefit assets 26 44 ' 38
Debtors o 17 v, 2
- 686 728
Current assets
Debto.rs X ' 17 438 338
Cash at bank and in hand 1 -
439 338
Current liabilities
Creditors: ilmounts falling due within one year 18 (247) (298)
Lease ligbilities 25 12) 9)
Net curreljt assets 180 31
Total assets less current liabilities 866 759
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 19 (522) . (519)
Lease liabilities 25 a6 6)_
Post-employment benefit liabilities ’ 26 12) ~(1 i)
Net assets 316 213
Equity
Called up share capital 21 80 -
Share premium account 22 17 17
Profit an%i loss account 23 219 196
Total shareholder’s funds 316 213

0

The financial statements on pages 14 to 44 were approved by the board of directors on 6 October 2021 and signed
on its behalf by:

D J Bates ' ‘ e
Director ° - - o

The Company’s registered number is 00653331,
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Experian Limited
Statement of changes in equity

year ended 31 March 2021

Called up Share Capital Profit and Total

, share premium redemption loss

f capital  account reserve! account

: £fm £m £fm fm fm
At 1 April 2019 - 17 - 245 262
Profit for the financial year - - - 32 32
Other comprehensive income for the year:
Remeasujrement loss on pension plan (note 26) - - - 10 .10
Moveme%nt on deferred tax relating to remeasurement - - - ) » 22)
Tax reco!gnised directly in equity on transactions with - - - ) ¢))
owners |
Current )!f'ear tax movement through reserves - - - 2 2
Total corﬁprehensive income for the year - - - 41 41
Transactions with owners
Credit in respect of share incentive plans - - - 10 10
Interim dfividends paid - - - (100) 7 (100)
Total trarjlsactions with owners - - - (90) (90)
At 31 szarc’h 2020 - 17 - 196 213
Profit for? the financial year - - - (& .1
Other comprehensive income for the year:
Remeasurement loss on pension plan (note 26) - - - 3 3
Movemeint on deferred tax relating to remeasurement - - - @) 1)
(note 20)
Tax recognised directly in equity on transactions with - - - - -
owners (r:10te 20)
Current ):/ear tax movement through reserves - - - 2 2
Total co;nprehensive income for the year - - - 11 11
Transac:tions with owners
Credit in:respect of share incentive plans - - - 13 13
Shares is;sued during the financial period (note 21) 80 - - - 80
'Employefe share incentive plan — other payments - - - (L) 1)
Total trz:msactions with owners 80 - - 12 92
At 31 M;rch 2021 80 17 - 219 316

1

'The bali‘mce on the Company’s capital redemption reserve amounted to £5,000 (2020: £5,000).




!
|
!

Experian Limited
Notes|to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2021 - N

Corporate information

Experian Limited (‘the Company’) is a private company, limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in England
and Walés. Its registered office is at The Sir John Peace Building, Experian Way, NG2 Business Park, Nottingham,
NG80 1ZZ and its registered number is 00653331. The Company’s principal activity is to provide data and analytical
tools to clients.

t
Basis of preparation

These firiancial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis, under the historical cost convention and
in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework (‘FRS 101°). In preparing
these financial statements, the Company applies the recognition, measurement and disclosure requirements of
international accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006, but makes
amendmeénts where necessary to comply with Companies Act 2006 and has set out below where advantage of the
FRS 101 'disclosure exemptions has been taken.

Going concern

The Conipany is party to the Experian group-wide cash pooling arrangement, with the Company’s cash flows all
being directed through this facility (which results in an amount owed by group undertakings of £223,000,000 at 31 __
March 2021). It is this facility through which the Company meets its day-to-day working capital requirements.

In adopting the going concern basis for preparing these financial statements, the directors have considered the
business activities, the principal risks and uncertainties and the other matters that could threaten the long-term
financial stability of the Company, including the impact of COVID-19 and any severe but plausible downside
scenarios this could create. Given the net current assets of £180,000,000 at 31 March 2021 the directors believe that
the Company is well placed to manage its financing and other business risks satisfactorily and have a reasonable
expectation that the Company will have adequate resources, including the ongoing availability of funds under the
Group's cash pooling arrangements and inter-group loan notes, to continue in operational existence.

The Directors therefore consider it appropriate to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing these
financial statements

Group financial statements exemption

The Company is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Experian plc and is included in its group financial statements, which
are publicly available. Therefore, the Company is exempt from the requirement to prepare group financial statements
under the Companies Act 2006. Accordingly, the Company’s financial statements are separate financial statements.

Financial Reporting Standard (‘FRS’) 101 ‘Reduced disclosure framework’ (‘FRS 101°)

The Company’s financial statements are prepared in accordance with the requirements of Finan'c"i'éii;fﬁépbrting
Standard. (‘FRS”) 100 ‘Application of financial reporting requirements’, the directors have opted to prepafe these
financial 'statements in accordance with FRS 101 ‘Reduced disclosure framework’.

FRS 101 allows certain exemptions from the requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) to
avoid the duplication of information provided in the group financial statements and to provide more concise financial
reporting in entity financial statements. The following exemptions have therefore been applied in the preparation of
these financial statements:

e Paragraphs 45(b) and 46 to 52 of IFRS 2 ‘Share-based Payment’, exempting the Company from providing details
of share options and of how the fair value of services received was determined.
e IFRS7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’.
e Paragraphs 91 to 99 of IFRS 13 ‘Fair Value Measurement’, exempting the Company from disclosing valuation
techniques and inputs used for the measurement of assets and liabilities.
e Paragraph 38 of 1AS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’, exempting the Company from disclosing
comparative information required by:
e paragraph 79(a)(iv) of IAS 1 — shares outstanding at the beginning and at the end of that period;
e paragraph 73(e) of IAS 16 ‘Property, Plant and Equipment’ — reconciliations between the carrying amount
at the beginning and end of that period; and
o ' paragraph 118(e) of IAS 38, ‘Intangible Assets’ — reconciliations between the carrying amount at the
beginning and end of the period. - M A
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Experian Limited

Notes ;to the financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2021

Basis o:f preparation (continued)

e The fl(')llowing paragraphs of IAS 1:
» | paragraphs 10(d) and 111, exempting the Company from providing a cash flow statement and information;
; paragraph 16, exempting the Company from providing a statement of compliance with all IERS;
* paragraph 38A, exempting the Company from the requirement for a minimum of two of each prxmary
, statement and the related notes; . s
ol paragraphs 38B to D, exempting the Company from the requirement to provide addmonal comparative
* information; and
! paragraphs 134 to 136, exempting the Company from presenting capital management disclosures.

o JAS 7, ‘Statement of Cash Flows’.

. Parag’raphs 30 and 31 of IAS 8 ‘Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors’, exempting
the Company from disclosing information where it has not applied a new [FRS which has been issued but is not
yet effectlve

. Paragraph 17 of IAS 24 ‘Related Party Disclosures’, exempting the Company from disclosing details of key
management compensation; and

o The requirements in IAS 24 ‘Related Party Disclosures’ to disclose related party transactions with wholly-owned
members of the Group.

e The requirements of the second sentence of paragraph 110 and paragraphs 113(a), 114, 115, 118, 119(a) to (c),
120 to 127 and 129 of IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’, exempting the Company from the
requirement to provide additional revenue disclosure information.

The use of critical accounting estimates and management judgment is required in applying the accounting policies.
Areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or where assumptions and estimates are 51gn1ﬁcant to the
Company’s financial statements, are highlighted in note 4. -

RS
AR T e

Summary of significant account policies Lo ' e

The significant accounting policies applied are summarised below. They have been consistently applied to both years
presented. The explanations of these policies focus on areas where judgment is applied or which are particularly
important in the financial statements. Content from accounting standards, amendments and interpretations is excluded
where thére i1s no policy choice under IFRS.

Functional and presentation currency
The financial statements are presented in pounds sterling (£), the Company’s functional currency.
i

Foreign icurrency translation

Experian' follows 1AS 21 ‘The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates’. Transactions in foreign currencies are
recorded! at the rates prevailing at the transaction date. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
cunencie';s are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the balance sheet date. All differences are taken to the profit and
loss account in the year in which they arise.

Impairnient of non-financial assets

The Company follows IAS 36 ‘Impairment of assets’. Goodwill (which is not subject to amortisation or depreciation)
is tested ?at least annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation or depreciation are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
An impairment charge is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. ; The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell, and value-in-use. “For the
purposes,of assessing impairment, assets are grouped into cash generating units (‘CGUSs’), determined by the lowest
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows.

lntangibie assets (note 13)

The Company follows IAS 38 ‘Intangible assets’ and IAS 36.

Goodwili is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment. Goodwill is not amortised but tested annually for
impairment.

Customer relationships acquired as part of a business combination are capitalised on acquisition at fair value and
recogniséd separately from goodwill. The costs are amortised on a straight-line basis over four to five years.

i
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Experian Limited

Notes !to the financial statements (continued)
for the ylear ended 31 March 2021

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

[
Intangible:assets (continued)

Softwarei development acquired as part of a business combination is capitalised on acquisition at fair value. The costs
are amortised on a straight-line basis over four years.

Capitalised databases, comprising the data purchase and data capture costs of internally developed databases, are
amortised on a straight-line basis over three to five years.

Computer software licences purchased for internal use are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to purchase
and bring into use the specific software. These costs are amortised on a straight-line basis over three to five years.

Internally generated software costs directly associated with the production of identifiable and unique software products
controlled by the Company, that will generate economic benefits beyond one year, are recogmsed as intangible assets.
These costs are amortised on a straight-line basis over three to ten years.

Tanglble assets (note 14) L .
Tangible! fixed assets are held at cost less accumulated deprematlon in accordance with IAS 16 ‘Property, plant and
equipment’. Depreciation is charged on a straight-line basis, over the following periods:

Freehold buildings - 50 years
Plant and machinery - 3 to 10 years
Fixtures and fittings - 3 to 10 years

Investments in group undertakings (note 15)
Shares in group undertakings are held at cost less accumulated impairment charges.

Investment in associates (note 16)

Interests in associates are accounted for using the equity method. They are initially recognised at cost, which includes
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, the financial statements include the Company’s share of the profit
or loss and other comprehensive income of equity-accounted investees, until the date on which significant influence
ceases.

Trade debtors (note 17)

Trade debtors and contract assets are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at this value less
loss allowances. Where the time value of money is material, debtors are then carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method, less loss allowances.

~ A loss allowance is established when there is objective evidence that we will not be able to collect all amounts.dug--
according to their original terms. Such evidence is based primarily on the pattern of cash received, compared to the
terms upor which contract assets and receivables are agreed. We apply the IFRS 9 simplified lifetime eéxpected
credit loss approach. Expected credit losses are determined using a combination of historical experience and
forward- lookmg information. Impairment losses or credits in respect of trade debtors and contract assets are
recogmsed in the profit and loss account, within other operating charges.

Trade credltors (note 18)
Trade creditors and contract liabilities are recognised initially at fair value. Where the time value of money is material,
creditorsiand contract liabilities are then carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

Leases (note 25)

The Company undertakes an assessment of whether a contract is or contains a lease at its inception. The assessment
establishes whether the Company obtains substantially all the economic benefits from the use of an asset and whether
we have the right to direct its use.

Low-value:lease payments are recognised as an expense, on a straight-line basis over the lease term. For other leases
we recognise both a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the commencement date of a lease contract.

The right—of use asset is initially measured at cost, comprising the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for
payments' made at or before the commencement date, plus initial direct costs and an estimate of the cost of any
obligation to refurbish the asset or site, less lease incentives. -« . e

Subsequently, right-of-use assets are measured at cost less accuimnulated depreciation and impairment" losses and are
adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the shorter
of the lease period or the estimated useful life of the right-of-use asset, which is determined on a basis consistent with
purchased assets (see tangible asset accounting policy stated above).
i
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Experian Limited
Notes §to the financial statements (continued)
for the yéa'r ended 31 March 2021

Summary of significant accounting policies (contmued) ‘ A -

~e

9

Leases (contmued)

The lease term comprises the non-cancellable period of a lease, plus periods covered by an extension option, if it is
reasonabvly| certain to be exercised, and periods covered by a termination option if it is reasonably certain not to be
exercised: ;

!
The lease ljability is initially measured at the present value of lease payments that are not paid at the commencement
date, dlscounted at the interest rate implicit in the lease or if that rate cannot be easily determined the Company’s
mcremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments comprise payments of fixed principal, less any lease incentives, variable elements linked to an index,
guaranteed residuals or buy-out options that are reasonably certain to be exercised. It includes payments in respect of
optional renewal periods where these are reasonably certain to be exercised or early termination payments where the

lease term reﬂects such an option.
i

The lease 11ab111ty is remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or
rate, if there is a change in the Company’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value
guarantee: or if the Company changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination

option. ll .

When a lease liability is remeasured, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the nght -of-use
asset or 1s recognised in the Company income statement if the-asset is fully depreciated.
1

The Company presents right-of-use assets within property, plant and equipment and lease liabilities in the Company
balance sheet.

Post-employment benefit assets and obligations (note 26)

Defined benefit pension arrangements — funded plan

The postf-;e!mployment benefit assets and obligations recognised in the balance sheet in respect of funded plans
comprise the fair value of plan assets less the present value of the related defined benefit obligation at that date. The
defined. beneﬁt obligation is calculated annually by independent qualified actuaries using the projected unit credit
method. | 4

The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows,
using market yields on high-quality corporate pounds sterling bonds with maturity terms consistent with the estimated
average term of the related pension liability.

Actuarial galns and losses arising from experience adjustments, and changes in actuarial assumptions, are recognised
immediately in the statement of comprehensive income.

The pension cost recognised in the profit and loss account comprises the cost of benefits accrued plus interest on the
opening net defined benefit asset or obligation. Service costs and financing income and expenses are recognised
separately in the profit and loss account. Plan expenses are deducted from the expected return on the plan assets over
the year." ! .

Defined beneﬁt pension arrangements — unfunded plans
Unfunded pension obligations are determined and accounted for in accordance with the principles used in respect of
the funded arrangements.

Defined.contribution pension arrangements
The assets of defined contribution plans are held separately in independently administered funds. The pension cost
recogmsed in the profit and loss account represents the contributions payable by the Company in respect of the year.

Post-retirement healthcare obligations

Obllgat10n§ in respect of post-retirement healthcare plans are calculated annually by independent qualified actuaries
using an aotuartal methodology similar to that for the pension arrangements. Remeasurement gains and losses arising
from experience adjustments, and changes in actuarial assumptions, are recognised in other comprehensive income.
The cost recognised in the profit and loss account comprises interest only on the obligation.

¥
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Experian Limited
Notes to the financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2021
Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Turnover and revenue recognition (note 5)

Turnover 1? stated net of any sales taxes, rebates and discounts.

Revenue'ﬁre;cognition

Tumnover is recognised to represent the transfer of promised services to customers in a way that reflects the
consideration expected to be received in return. Total consideration from contracts with customers is allocated to the
performance obligations identified based on their standalone selling price, and is recognised when those performance
obligations are satisfied and the control of goods or services lS transferred to the customer, either over time or at’a
point in time.

e Tumover in respect of the provision and processing of transactional data is recognised in the period in which the
service, is provided.

o Turnover from batch data arrangements which include an ongoing update service are apportioned across each
delivery to the customer.

e Subscription and membership fees are recognised on a straight-line basis over the period to which they relate.

o Software licence and delivery services are primarily accounted for as a single performance obligation, with
turnoyer recognised when the combined offering is delivered to the customer. These services are distinguished
between Experian-hosted solutions, where turnover is spread over the period that the service is available to the
customgr, and on-premise software licence arrangements, where turnover is recognised on delivery completion.

e The r%ieilivery of support and maintenance agreements is generally considered to be a separate performance
obligation and turnover is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the maintenance period.

e Professional services turnover which form a separate performance obligation are recognised as the services are
delivéred.

Accrued jncome
Accrued i ;mcome balances, which represent the right to consideration in exchange for goods or services that we have

transferred;to a customer, are assessed as to whether they meet the definition of a contract asset: e
Aertaa g e

. When the right to consideration is conditional on something other than the passage of tlme a balance 1&@1assnf' ed
as a contract asset. This arises where there are further perforimance obligations to be satisfied as part of the contract
with the customer and typically includes balances relating to software licensing contracts;

e When the right to consideration is conditional only on the passage of time, the balance does not meet the definition
of a contract asset and is classified as an unbilled debtor. This typically arises where the timing of the related
billing cycle occurs in a period after the performance obligation is satisfied.

Contract costs

Certain costs incurred prior to the satisfaction or partial-satisfaction of a performance obligation are also deferred as
contract costs and these are amortised on a systematic basis consistent with the pattern of transfer of the related goods
or services.

¢ Costs to obtain a contract predominantly comprise sales commissions costs.

¢ Costs to fulfil a contract predominantly comprise of labour costs directly relating to the implementation services
provided.

Contract li?biliﬁes

Contract liabilities arise when we have an obligation to transfer future goods or services to a customer for which we

have received consideration, or the amount is due, from the customer and include both deferred income balances and

specific regerves.

Tax (note 11) Aartae e
The tax expense for the year comprises current and deferred tax. The tax charge for the year is recognised in.the- proht
and loss account, except for tax on items recognised in other comprehenswe income or directly in shareholder’s funds:

Current tlaxl is calculated on the basis of the tax laws substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Deferred, tax is pr0v1ded in full on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrymg amounts in the financial statements.

Deferred| tax assets and liabilities are calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply when the asset is realised or
the lability settled, based on the tax rates and laws that have been substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferreditax assets are recognised in respect of tax losses carried forward and other temporary differences, only to the
extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are offset where there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities.
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Experlan Limited , g e
Notes nto the financial statements (contmued) ‘

for the ygar ended 31 March 2021
Summé:ry of significant accounting policies (continued)

Share incentive plans (note 27)

Companyiemployees participate in the Experian plc share-based employee incentive plans. The Company treats such
arrangements as equity-settled as Experian plc satisfies the awards in shares. The fair value of share incentives granted
in connectxon with the Group’s equity-settled, share-based employee incentive plans is recognised as an expense on a
stralght-lme basis over the vesting period. Fair value is measured using whichever of the Black-Scholes model, Monte
Carlo quel or closing market price is most appropriate. The Company takes into account the best estimate of the
number of awards and options expected to vest and revises such estimates at each balance sheet date. Non-market

performqr;c!e conditions are included in the vesting estimates. Market-based performance conditions are included in
the fair value measurement but are not revised for actual performance.

Dividen(;lé (note 12)

Dividend income from subsidiary undertakings is recognised when subsidiaries have paid interim dividends or have
proposed and authorised final dividends. .
i “m::e;,A s

L
Critical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgments . g e

In prepaxmg the financial statements, management is requlred to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amount of turnover, costs and charges, assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. The
resulting| laccounting estimates, which are based on management’s best judgment at the date of the financial statements,
will seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in future financial years are summarised below.
Revenue ireicognition is excluded from this summary on the grounds that the policy adopted in this areas is sufficiently
objective. |

Key sourcé of estimation uncertainty — forecasts and discount rates used

The Company tests goodwill for impairment annually, or more frequently if there is an indication that it may be
impaired:. The recoverable amount is generally determined on the basis of value-in-use calculations, which require
the use ofgcash flow projections based on approved financial budgets, looking forward up to five years. Management
determings: budgeted profit margin based on past performance and its expectations for the market’s development.
Cash flows are extrapolated using estimated growth rates beyond a five-year period. The growth rates used do not
exceed the long-term average growth rate for the markets in which the Company operates. The discount rates used
reflect the Company’s pre-tax weighted average cost of capital (‘WACC’).

Key area of judgment — intangible assets

Certain costs incurred in the developmental phase of an internal project, which include the development of databases,
internal’ use software and internally generated software, are capitalised as intangible assets if a number o{' cnter:a are
met. Management has made judgments and assumptions when assessing whether a project meets these crlterla and
on measgrmg the costs and the economic life attributed to such projects.

On acquisi'tion, specific intangible assets are identified and recognised separately from goodwill and then amortised
over their estimated useful lives. These include items such as brand names and customer lists, to which value is first
attributed at the time of acquisition. The capitalisation of these assets and the related amortisation charges are based
on judgments about the value and economic life of such items.

The ecoqomlc lives for intangible assets are estimated at between three and ten years for internal projects, which
include glatabases internal use software and internally generated software, and between four and five years for
acqulsm?n ‘intangibles. Further details of the amounts of, and movements in, such assets are given in note 3.

For intan‘gib]e assets not yet subject to amortisation, the same impairment process is followed as for goodwill above.

X
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Experian Limited
Notes ito the financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2021

|

Turnm"e_r

Turnover is predominantly with UK clients and customers.
Disaggrelagz:ltion of revenue from contracts with customers ™~ ~
i

P 2021 2020

i £m £m

Data :l 254 269
Decisionrlg 177 181
Businesé&tio-Business 431 450
Consumfe; Services 120 126
551 576

Data is lfarédominantly transactional turnover. Decisioning is predominantly turnover from software licence and
delivery iservices. Consumer Services is predominantly subscription and transactional turnover. The timing of
revenue rec’:ognition in relation to these is discussed in note 3. -

Slgmﬁcant changes in contract balances o

Contract; assets predominantly relate to software licence services, where revenue recognition for on-prermse
arrangements occurs as the solution is transferred to the customer, whereas the invoicing pattern is often annually over
the contract period. Contract assets recognised during the year totalled £3m (2020: £6m). The contract asset balance
for work{ completed but not invoiced on satisfaction of a performance obligation, unwinds over the contract term.
Contract|assets are transferred to debtors when the right to consideration becomes unconditional, or conditional only
on the passage of time. Contract assets reclassified to debtors during the year totaled £4m (2020: £4m).

The majority of software licences are invoiced annually in advance. Where these licences relate to Experian-hosted
solutions, revenue is recognised over the period that the service is available to the customer, creating a contract
liability. ‘Delivery services are generally invoiced during the delivery period, creating a contract liability for the
advanced consideration until the delivery is complete.

Where the delivery relates to Experian-hosted solutions, revenue is recognised over the period that the service is
availablel to the customer, reducing the contract liability over time. Where the delivery relates to an on-premise
solution, jthe contract liability is released on delivery completion. Support and maintenance agreements are often
invoicediar}nually in advance, creating a contract liability, which is released over the term of the maintenance period
as revenue 1s recognised. Revenue recognised in the year of £94m (2020: £104m) was included in the opening contract
liability. !Cash received in advance not recognised as revenue in the year was £84m (2020: £96m).

Contract costs .
The carrying amount of assets recognised from costs to obtain and costs to fulfil contracts with customers at 31 March
2021 is £3m and £24m respectively (2020: £4m and £27m). »

Amortlsatlon of contract costs in the year is £16m (2020: £16m) and recognised impairment losses totalled £2m (2020:
£4m). Cfon'tract costs are amortised on a systematic basis consistent with the pattern of transfer of the related goods
or services. A portfolio approach has been applied to calculate contract costs for contracts with similar characteristics,
where the Company reasonably expects that the effects of applying a portfolio approach does not differ materially
from calculating the amounts at an individual contract level.

{
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Experian Limited
Notes!ité the financial statements (continued)
LI

for the ye¢ar ended 31 March 2021

1
Staff cqls‘ts and numbers

TR UL ey

Staff cosft:s;
L 2021 2020
Wages arid salaries 204 184
Social sectrity costs 23 23
Share incentive plans, including related social security costs (note 27) 17 12
Pension cdsts — defined benefit plans (note 26) 2 [T g
Pension éo:sts — defined contribution plans 16 14
Total perills?ion costs 18 18
262 237
Wages and'izsalaries include £7m (2020: £4m) of severance costs.
Staff numbers - monthly averages
' 2021 2020
Number Number
Development and delivery 1,394 1,505
Administritive and other 950 963
Sales and marketing 579 613
' 2,923 3,081
Cl - ——— -
Direct(;i'g’ remuneration ke et
| 2021 2020
'K £m £m
Aggregé{tégemoluments (excluding employer’s pension contributions) 1 2

¥
F

Retiremezntg benefits are accruing to one director (2020: three) under a defined contribution pension plan.

Awards of EExperian plc ordinary shares were released to three directors (2020: four), under long-term incentive plans
and the estimated value is £1,952,000 (2020: £2,879,000). Two directors realised a total gain of £270,000 on exercise
of option;s (2020: three directors realised a total gain of £2,416,000 on exercise of options).

.

Highest jpaid director

2021 2020
£°000 £000
Emolumeﬁts (excluding employer’s pension contributions) 497 1,006
Other interest receivable

: 2021 2020

£fm  Eme

Interest receivable from group undertakings - 1
Foreign exchange gains on intra-group financing 1 1
’ 1 2

[P NN
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Experiz:m Limited
Notes ito the financial statements (continued) ' .
for the yi z?r ended 31 March 2021 ’ e

Interest i)ayable and similar charges

] 2021 2020
H £m £m
Committ‘ec:l facility fee 1 1
Interest pafyable to other group undertakings 8 11
Interest n! lease liabilities 1 2
10 14
Profit l;')e_ifore tax
Profit beifo're tax is stated after charging:
; . _ 2021 2020
£m £m
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets (note 14) 25 e 23
Amortisation of intangible fixed assets (note 13) » 34 || 31
Impairmént of tangible fixed assets (note 14) 3 -
lmpairmiént of intangible fixed assets (note 13) 21 -
Total de;')'r cciation and other amounts written off tangible and intangible fixed assets 83 54
Operatinlg Jease rentals 4 3
Other operating charges include fees payable to the auditor for the audit of the Company’s financial statements of
£279,000:(2020: £252,000).
Operating leases relate to payments in respect of low value assets which continue to be recognised as an expense, on

a straight line basis, in the income statement. This treatment utilises the exemption available in IFRS 16 for such
assets. !

Tax oni profit

Analysi:% o'f charge for the year
Tax expein;e included in the profit and loss account . =
] . .

: 2021 2020

| £m £m
Currentg tax:
UK corp?oriation tax on the profit for the year 5 7
Adjustm!etihs in respect of prior years 1 4
Overseas thx 1 1
Total curgént tax 7 12
Deferred ‘ax:
Originatié) ‘i and reversal of timing differences 1) 2
Adjustménfts in respect of prior periods | ) -
Total deférred tax. @ ' 2.
Tax on l;riaﬁt 4 - 14 .
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Experian Limited
Notes {to the financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2021

Tax on: groﬁt (continued)

¥
Factors iat"l'ecting the total tax charge for the year

The tax charge for the year is at a rate higher (2020: higher) than the main rate of UK corporatlon tax of 19% (2020

19%). The differences are explained below.

Reconclhatlon of tax charge

| g 2021 2020

L £m £fm
Profit bfeféi;re tax 11 46
Proﬁt‘mii.l:ltf:‘iplied by the main rate of UK corporation tax 2 9
Effects of[
Adjustme’n't in respect of prior years ) 4
Expenses riot deductible for tax purposes 2 1
Oversea tax borme 1 1
Relief for overseas tax borne ) )
Other tinrfiéxg differences 1 -
Tax chaljfg'e for the year ; 4 <14

B
ll

Factors affectmg future tax liabilities

In the 3 March 2021 Budget it was announced that the UK tax rate will increase to 25% from 1 April 2023 and this
was substantially enacted on 24 May 2021. This will have a consequential effect on the company’s future tax charge.
If this rate change had been substantively enacted at the current balance sheet date the deferred tax asset would have

increased by £3m.

In the foreseeable future, the Company’s tax liability will continue to be influenced by the nature of its income and
expendlture the ability of its parent group to surrender UK tax losses to it and could be affected by changes in UK

tax law. | ;

|
Dividemlis

i
Interim dividends paid in the year

2021 2020

£m £m

Interim divjdend of £204.10 per share paid on 25 September 2019 . - - ’ -100
]

- 100
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Experian Limited

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
for the yéar ended 31 March 2021

Intangible assets

. Goodwill Customer Acquired Data- Internal Internally Total
; relation- software bases use generated
ships development software software
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Cost i
Atl Ap_riil 2020 250 7 7 106 21 234 625
Transfer?i%rbm investments 20 - - - - - 20
Disposalis: - - - - (3) - 3
Other digposals _ - - - - ; Q4) . .-Z ().
Addition's - - - 5 - 16 21
At 31 Méifch 2021 270 7 7 111 18 226 639
Amortis;iﬁon ‘
At 1 April 2020 109 7 7 93 16 136 368
Amortisation charge for the year - - - 5 1 28 34
Impairmie:ﬁt charge for the year - - - - - 21 21
Other disposals i - . . - 24) (24)
Disposals | - ; ; - 3) ) @
At 31 Mafrich 2021 109 7 7 98 14 160 395
Net book;aflmount
At 31 Ma’r:ch 2021 161 - - 13 4 66 244

At 31 March 2020 141 - - 13 5 98 - - 257

Within the year the net assets of Castlight Limited, a subsidiary, were acquired by The Company. The investment in
subsidiary balance (£20m) that had arisen upon the acquisition of Castlight Limited was transferred into Goodwill as
part of thisltransaction

For the pur!poses of its annual impairment testing of goodwill and intangible assets not yet subject to amortisation, the
Company is regarded as a single CGU. The annual impairment review as at 31 March 2021 indicated that the
recoverablé amount exceeded its carrying value on the basis of an assumption of 8.3% for post-tax WACC and long-
term growth rate of 2.3%.

Within theitotal intangibles balances, an asset exists in relation to the Data platform. As at 31 March 2021, the net
book value of the asset is £14m (2020: £39m). During the year, this asset was identified as requiring impairment of
£21m due to planned upgrade of our technology estate.

RT3
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Experif'm Limited

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

for the yeﬁr ended 31 March 2021

RN

[N N W

Tangible assets
Freehold Plant and  Right of use Right of use Total
land and machinery, land and motor
buildings  fixtures and buildings vehicles
fittings
£m £m fm £m £m
Cost
At 1 April:2020 2 139 31 3 175
Additions - 5 12 3 20
Other disposals - (6) - - (6)
Disposals - - - ¢} ¢))]
At 31 March 2021 2 138 43 5 188
Depréciat on
At 1 April 2020 1 106 9 2 . 18
Charge for the year - 13 10 2 25
Impairment charge - 3 - - 3
- Other disp !Jsal - (6) - - (6)
, Dispo’s,als - - - (1) (D
At 31 Ntlanph 2021 1 116 19 3 139
Net boo%k:- ;mount
At 31 Mé;n?ch:ZOZI 1 22 24 2 49
At 31 Mari:h 2020 1 33 22 1 57
: _
i
i
i
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Experliz]m Limited

Notes H) the financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2021

Investn@énts in group undertakings

H
¥

" 2021 2020
1 £m £m
Cost f ;
At 1 April: 780 760
Additions | .
Transfer 19 Goodwill (20) ;
At 31 Mitch 760 780
Provisions for impairment
At 1 April and 31 March 482 482
Net booki famount
At31 March 278 298
Atl Ap,rifl 298 278

The principal subsidiary undertakings as at 31 March 2021 are listed below. The Company directly owns 100% of
their ordir‘l%iry share capital. They are incorporated and registered in England and Wales, registered office address:
The Sir John Peace Building Experian Way, Ng2 Business Park, Nottingham, England, NG80 1ZZ.

|

Name Nature of business
Experian SURBS Investments Limited " "Holds investments to secure pension benefits
Experiafn Thternational Unlimited Intra-group financing
Runpath Group Limited Providers of creative financial technology
i
Castlight Limited Providers of open banking technology

Other subsidiary undertakings are listed in note 29.

i
Following the sale of net assets to Experian Limited, going forwards Castlight Limited will be a dormant company.

Investment in associate

2021 2020
£fm £m
Cost !
Atl Apr'ili 47 45
Share of (foss)/proﬁt after tax 3) 3
Dividends received _ - (1)
At 31 March ' 4 47
Provisions for impairment )
At1 April and 31 March ] )
|
Net book amount
At 31 March 44 47
At1 April 47 a5

30
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Experian Limited _
Notes to the financial statements (continued)
for the y:ézl’r ended 31 March 2021

Investnient in associate (continued)

Asat 31 1\:/I::arch 2021, the Company owns 25% of the issued ordinary shares of London & Country Mortgages
Limited, a leading UK mortgage broker specialising in fee-free mortgage advice.

Debtors !
:
% 2021 2020
| £fm £m
Trade deBtfors 89 98
Amount'sl;(gwed by group undertakings 280 175
Prepaymergts 22 2 1
Unbilled d:;btors _ ' C s T TTien
Contract é§§ets 8 9
Contract 6_££)sts 26 31
Taxation ; 5 7
455 360
Current'debtors 438 338
Non-current debtors 17 22
455 360

There is.niq material difference between the fair value and the book value stated above. The only impaired assets are
within trade debtors. Non-current debtors comprise contract assets, unbilled debtors and contract costs.

Amounts owed by group undertakings are unsecured and repayable on demand and include £233m (2020:-£ 143‘0};ﬁ)
which earns interest at a deposit rate or equivalent (interbank bid rate — LIBID). The remaining amounts are interest
free. The éﬁcrease primarily related to the £80m ordinary shares issued by Experian Ltd during the year. The payment
for these shares was settled through the intra-group financing facility.

Trade debtors are stated after provisions for impairment of £7m (2020: £5m).

31
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Experlan Limited
Notes to the financial statements (continued)

for the yqar ended 31 March 2021

|
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

|
-
)

i 2021 2020 °
: £m £m
Trade é:reﬁitors 19 37
Amour%ntsfc:);wed to group undertakings 53 94

Other ;:rgzci;;tors including tax and social security:

Other :cfreditors 5 7
Tax anc;i social security 21 21
o 26 28
Accruéls 8 66 43
Contract 11ab111t1es 83 96
247 298

]
i

Amounts ;o'wed to group undertakings are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

Accruaifs includes £nil (2020: £4m) of consideration payable in respect of past acquisitions, which is payable within

one year. : ;

Creditori‘s: amounts falling due after more than one year

! 2021 2020

o £m £m
Amour:lt:s;(%wed to group undertakings 500 500
Accméls . ' 5 5
Contrad} liabilities 17 14
;! 522 519

Amounts biwed to group undertakings comprises an unsecured loan note, repayable on 2 September 2024, which bears

interest at 31x -month sterling LIBOR plus 1.3%.

AccruaISs mcludes £4m (2020: £4m) of consideration payable in respect of a past acquisition, which is expected to be

payable 2'years from the balance sheet dates.
R
O

vl
i

o
t
_—
ol
i

]

SR awvd

32



20

21

22

23

i

Expérién Limited

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

for the ye%r ended 31 March 2021

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

There is, tio deferred tax unprovided at 31 March 2021 or 2020. The deferred tax balance consists of the following

deferred tax -assets and liabilities:

S

Retirement Retirement Net retirement Other Total
I benefit assets benefit benefit deferred
e deferred tax  obligations obligations tax
‘ liability deferred tax  deferred tax  assets
. l asset liability et
Asset/(liab‘ility) £m £m £m fm  fm
i
At 31 March 2019 5) 2. 3) 16 13
(Charged)/credlted to the profit and loss ()] 2 - ) 1)
account
(Charged)/,credlted to other - 2) 2) €8] 3)
comprehensive income
T
At 31 M'a'réh 2020 @) 2 %) 14 9
(Charged)/credxted to the profit and loss 1) 1 - 3 3
account ﬂf
(Charged)écredited to other - ) 0))] (1) 2)
comprehénsive income
At 31 Méﬁch 2021 €] 2 6) 16 10

Deferred, tax is recognised in full on retirement benefit assets and obligations. The other deferred tax asset recogmsed

has arlsen on short term timing differences.

Called up share capital
Allotted and fully paid
; Number of 2021 2020
! shares allotted £m fm
Ordinar') shares of £1 each 80,489,950 80 ;

On3 September 2020, Experian Limited issued 80,000,000 shares with a nominal value of £1 each. There were no
transactlons affectlng share capital in the year ended 31 March 2020.

Share Ip,r-emlum account

The difféfence between the consideration and the par value of the shares issued is recorded in the share premium
account and is not available for distribution.

Profit and loss account

The balance on the profit and loss account comprises net profits retained in the Company, after the payment of equlty
d1v1dends
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Expérian Limited
Notes to the financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2021

Fi 1nanc1al commitments

There were no significant capital commitments contracted but not provided for at either balance sheet date.

Mmlmurh lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are payable:

i i!'
i
i
s

1 2021 2020
N Plant and Plant and
l Machinery Machinery
N £m £m
l ' 5
Within one year 2 3
In between one and five years 2 4
x [ .
In more thém five years - -
l i ! 4 7

n[

Non-cancellable operating leases relate low value assets which continue to be recognised as an expense, on a straight

line basis, in the income statement. This treatment utilises the exemption available in IFRS 16 for such assets.

Leases - |

The Company’s lease portfolio consists of 10 property leases across the UK in which we operate. In addition, we
lease appr(;)umately 250 motor vehicles and 5 hardware related leases. The average remaining lease term is 1.5
years for property leases, 3.2 years for hardware and leases and 1.5 years for motor vehicles. Extension and
termmatlon opnons are included within a number of property and equipment leases across the Company. These are
used to maxlmlse operational flexibility in terms of managing assets and lease exposures. The majority of extension

and termmlatlon options are exercisable only by the Company and not by the respective lessor.

As at 31 March 2021 £4m (2020: £4m) of the lease liability is owed to related party, Chatsworth Investments

b
Limited based on lease agreements in place.
{

Amounts;tecogmsed in the Company’s Balance Sheet

3

o 2021 2020
. }‘ £m T Em T
Right of Iuse assets (Note 14)
Freehold land and buildings 24 21
Motor vehicles 2 2
At 31 March 26 23
Lease ob!igations
Current? . 12 9
Non-Cul.irfe:nt 16 16
At31 Mar‘ch 28 25

i

o
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Experian Limited N
Notes to the financial statements (continued) R
for the year ended 31 March 2021

Leases (continued)

Lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined,
which is generally the case for leases in the Company, the incremental borrowing rate is used. The incremental
borrowing rate is unique to the country and class of assets therein and is based on the Company’s cost of debt,
adjusted for factors specific to individual lessees and their borrowing capacity.

The Company is exposed to potential future increases in variable lease payments based on periodic market based
reviews, which are not included in the lease obligation until they take effect.

Maturity of lease liabilities - contractual undiscounted cash flows

2021 2020

£m £m

Less than 1 year 12 © 10

One to two years - 9 7
Two to three years 6 o 7- :

Three to foﬁr years 2 3

Total undiscounted lease liabilities at 31 March 29 27

Post-employment benefit assets and obligations

Post-employment benefit plans and related risks

The Company provides pension benefits to eligible employees through membership of the Experian Pension Scheme,
a defined benefit pension plan sponsored by itself and Experian Finance plc, but which was closed to new entrants in
2009 and will be closed to the accrual of new benefits from 1 April 2022, at which point all employees will be offered
membership of the Company’s defined contribution plan. This Plan is governed by a trust deed which ensures that its
finances and governance are independent from those of the Group. It has rules which specify the benefits to be paid
and is funded accordingly with assets being held in an independently administered fund.

A full actuarial funding valuation of the Experian Pension Scheme is carried out every three years, with interim
reviews in the intervening years. The latest full valuation was carried out as at 31 March 2019 by independent qualified
actuaries Mercer Limited, using the projected unit credit method. The 2019 actuarial valuation has been agreed and
there was a small funding surplus. The next full valuation will be carried out as at 31 March 2022.

The Company has had unfunded pension arrangements in place for a number of years designed to ensure-that certain
directors and senior managers who are affected by the ‘UK earnings cap’ are placed in broadly the same position as
those who are not. There are also unfunded arrangements for certain former directors and employees.

Arrangements are in place securing such unfunded pension benefit arrangements by granting charges to an
independent trustee over independently managed portfolios of marketable securities owned by Experian SURBS
Investments Limited. The amount of assets so charged is adjusted periodically to keep the ratio of assets charged to
the disc?unted value of the accrued benefits secured close to the corresponding ratio in the Plan.

The Company operates a plan which provides post-retirement healthcare benefits to certain retired employees and
their dependant relatives. Under this plan, the Company has undertaken to meet the cost of post-retirement healthcare
for all eligible former employees who retired prior to 1 April 1994 and their dependants.

R It A
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Experian Limited
Notes to the financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2021

Post-employment benefit assets and obligations (continued)
Related risks

Through the Plan and its post-retirement medical benefits arrangements, the Company is exposed to a number of risks
that are inherent in such plans and arrangements. The risks can be summarised as follows:

e Asset value volatility, with the associated impact on the assets held in connection with the funding of pension
obligations and the related cash flows.

e Changes in bond yields, with any reduction resulting in an increase in the present value of pension obligations
mitigated by an increase in the value of plan assets.

¢ Inflation, as pension obligations are generally linked to inflation and the prevailing rate of inflation experienced
for medical benefits is typically higher than other inflation measures in the UK.

o Life expectancy, as pension and medical benefits are generally provided for the life of beneficiaries and their
dependants.

There areno unusual, entity-specific or plan-specific risks, and no significant concentrations of risk.

The accounting valuations at 31 March 2021 have been based on the most recent actuarial valuations, updated by
Willis Towers Watson to take account of the requirements of LAS 19. The assumptions for the real discount rate, salary
increases and mortality, used to calculate the present value of the defined benefit obligations, all have a significant
effect on.the accounting valuation.

Changes to these assumptions in the light of prevailing conditions may have a significant impact on future valuations.
Indications of the sensitivity of the amounts reported at 31 March 2021 to changes in the real discount rate, life
expectancy and medical costs are included below.

While the methodology used to determine the discount rate is unchanged from that used. at 31 March.2020, the data
source uIsed by our external actuary to construct the corporate bond yield curve has been ‘updated due tochanges-in
the classifications of relevant high-quality corporate bonds. In"constructing the yield curve, judgment'is required on
the seleétion of appropriate bonds to be included and the approach then used to derive the yield curve. The change to
the bond universe has reduced retirement benefit obllgatlons at 31 March 2021 by approximately £11m or 2.3%.

In the year ended 31 March 2020 the CPI assumption was derived by assuming a margin of 80 basis points below RPI.
Followmg the announcement by the UK Chancellor of the Exchequer on 25 November 2020, of the outcome of a
consultation on the reform to RPI methodology, it is now expected that from 2030 RPI will be aligned with CPIH
(the Consumer Price Index including owner occupiers' housing costs).

For the year ended 31 March 2021 a 100 basis point margin between RPI and CPI has been assumed to 2030, with a
ten ba51s ;point margin assumed thereafter. This results in a single equivalent differential of 50 basis points and an
mcrease;m retirement benefit obligations at 31 March 2021 of approximately £6m or 1.1%.

The other methods and types of assumptions used are consistent with those used in the prior year and the absolute
sensitivil;ty numbers are stated on a basis consistent with the methodology used in determining the accounting valuation
as at 31 March 2021. The methodology evaluates the effect of a change in each assumption on the relevant obligations,
while holding all other assumptions constant.

Principél financial actuarial assumptions

WL, 2020
% " N,.q,..m.%: -
Discount rate ' 20° 77 227
Rate oféjuiﬂation based on RPI 33 2.6
Rate of inflation based on CPI 2.8 18
Rate of l:increase for salaries 2.8 2.1
Rate of’;increase for pensions in payment — element based on RPI (where cap is 5%) 3.0 2.5
Rate of increase for pensions in payment — element based on CPI (where cap is 2.5%) ‘ 1.9 1.5
Rate of,’increase for pensions in payment — element based on CPI (where cap is 3%) 2.2 1.7
Rate of increase for pensions in deferment 2.8 1.8
Rate ofi;ncreue for medical costs 6.3 5.6
I
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Experian Limited
Notes to the financial statements (continued)
for the yez;r ended 31 March 2021

Post-employment benefit assets and obligations (continued)

The principal financial assumption is the real discount rate, which is the excess of the discount rate over the rate of
inflation. The discount rate is based on the market yields on high-quality corporate bonds of a currency and term
appropriate to the defined benefit obligations. In the case of the Experian Pension Scheme, the obligations are in
pounds sterling and have a maturity on average of 17 years. If the real discount rate increased/decreased by 0.1%,
the defined benefit obligations at 31 March 2021 would decrease/increase by approximately £8m, and the fair value
of plan dssets would decrease/increase by approximately £8m. The annual current service cost would be broadly
unchanged.

The rate:s of increase for pensions in payment reflect the separate arrangements applying to different groups of
Experian's pensioners. If the inflation rate underlying the pension increases (both in payment and in deferment)
increased/decreased by 0.1%, the defined benefit obligations at 31 March 2021 would increase/decrease by :
approxlmately £5m and the annual current service cost would be broadly unchanged. L

Mortality assumptions - average life expectation on retirement at age 65 in normal health

g 2021 2020

' Years Years

Fora m‘glei currently aged 65 22.6 22.5
For a feméle currently aged 65 24.5 243
For a male currently aged 50 23.5 23.3
Fora female currently aged 50 25.6 25.4

by
'*I

The accountmg valuation assumes that mortality will be in line with standard tables adjusted to reflect the expected
expenence of the Experian Pension Scheme membership, based on analysis carried out for the 2019 actuarial
valuation.- A\ specific allowance for anticipated future improvements in life expectancy is also incorporated. While

I: o . . . . .
COVIDE19 has had an impact on mortality in FY21, the impact on future mortality trends are currently unknown and
consequently no adjustment has been made to mortality assumptions in this regard.

Ani mcrease in assumed life expectancy of 0.1 years would increase the defined benefit obligations at 31 \/[arch 2021
by approx1mately £2m and the annual current service cost would remain unchanged.

Post-employment medical benefits

The accounting valuation in respect of post-employment medical benefits assumes a rate of increase for medical costs.
If this rate increased/decreased by 1.0% per annum, the obligations at 31 March 2021 and the finance expense would
remain unchanged.

Increase in salaries

An incrc}.ase of 0.1% to the salary increase rate would have no material impact on obligations at 31 March 2021, and
the annual current service cost would be broadly unchanged.
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Experian Limited

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2021

Post-eqiployment benefit assets and obligations (continued)

Post-emplfoyment benefit amounts recognised in the financial statements

Balance sheet assets/|. obligations)

;! { 2021 2020

| £m £m
Retiremgé;lt benefit assets/(obligations) — funded plan:
Fair value iof funded plan assets ' 518 448
Present'vaiue of funded plan obligations 474) (410)
Assets m the balance sheet for funded defined pension benefits 44 38
Obligatlonfs for unfunded post-employment benefits:
Present value of defined benefit benefits — unfunded plans (11) (11)
Present|value of post-employment medical benefits 1) -
Liabi]itlgs 'in the balance sheet 12) (11)
Net pos!t;-e?)ployment benefit assets 32 ' 2’;
Profit arizd loss account charge by nature of expense

Lr 2021 2020

b 5 £m £m
Current. Sé:‘vice cost 2 4
Past servwe cost - -
Charge | w1th1n staff costs and operating profit 2 4
Expected;rgtum on assets - -
Interest income - -
Total cha!rge to profit and loss account 2 4

In the yea:[ended 31 March 2019 the Company recognised a past service cost in respect of Guaranteed Minimum
Pension equahsatlon of £1m. The amount of any additional liability resulting from the UK High Court ruling on 20

Novembéri2020 on historic transfers, is not anticipated to be material to the Company.

— e FATTI L . .
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Notesito the financial statements (continued)
H

for the year ended 31 March 2021

Post-e;m_ployment benefit assets and obligations (continued)

Remea:s%lr.ement recognised in other comprehensive income

i 2021 2020
; I; £m £m
Deﬁne;(i pension benefits 3. - . .10
Post-eféi)loyment medical benefits o - -
Total remeasurement recognised in other comprehensive income 3 10

Reconciliation of post-employment benefit assets and liabilities recognised in the balance sheet

ld ‘ Assels Liabilities Total

‘ u £m £m £m

At ] Ap}nl 2020 448 (421) 27
Benefits paid (12) 12 -
Contnbximons paid by the Company 3 - 3
Current«iserwce cost - 2) 2)
lnterest mcome/(expense) 10 ®) 1
Remeas_grqment gains/(losses) 69 (66) 3
At 31 March 2021 518 (486) 32

.:!;

Pension assets are deemed to be recoverable and there are no adjustments in respect of minimum funding requirements
as, under’the Experian Pension Scheme rules, future economic benefits are available to Company in the form of
reductions in future contributions or refunds of surplus.

"
Summary of funded plan at fair value

v 2021 2020
{ £m £m
UK ecil;itiés 3 2
Overseas equmes 84 77
Index- llinkfed gilts 183 160
Global ‘ci:_orporate bonds . 165 140
Secure(_ij ?éredit 53 46
Other ' ' 30 23
, 518 ... 448

The Experian Pension Scheme investment strategy aims to redu;e investment risk and funding volatility. With the
exceptlo n of a target 5% allocation to senior private debt, all other assets are regarded as being readily marketable
and regu arly traded.

iy
¢

The Trusteé has adopted funding-based triggers to implement further de-risking of the investment strategy as
condmons iallow. As a result, during the year the target allocation to equities was reduced from 20% to 15%. These
triggers will be kept under review. Over time, the Scheme is expected to increase its allocation to liability matching

assets, to pgowde cash flows to match expected benefit payments.
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Expenan Limited
Notes ;to the financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2021

Post—elinployment benefit assets and obligations (continued)

The Trus!tee believes that environmental, social and governance (ESG) factors may have a material impact on
mvestment risk and return outcomes. ESG factors, including climate change and stewardship, are increasingly
mtegrated Within investment processes both in appointing new investment managers and in monitoring existing
investment managers. Monitoring is undertaken and documented on a regular basis, making use of the investment
consultant 's ESG rating framework.

The Co pany s defined benefit plan have no holdings of ordinary shares or borrowings of the Company or of
Expenan plc the Company's ultimate parent undertaking.

Future contrlbutlons

There wa’.s ‘a small funding deficit at the date of the 2016 full actuarial valuation of the Experian Pension Scheme. To
correct the shortfall the employer agreed to pay additional contributions of £1m per annum over five years from 1
April 2017' The employer has agreed to continue to pay these contributions in FY21 and FY22 notwithstanding the
small surplus recognised following the 2019 full actuarial valuation. Contributions, including additional contributions,
currently, expected to be paid to this plan during the year ending 31 March 2021 are £3m by the Company and £1m
by emplpfyees.

!
Share incentive plans
The mformatlon below relates to options and awards held by the Company’s employees over Experian plc shares.

Cost of share-based compensation

" 2021 2020

i £fm £m

Share n;l)tlons 1 1

Share awards 13 9

Expense’z:; refcognised (all equity-settled) 14 10

Related {isot':ial security costs 3 2

Total eipénse recognised (all equity-settled) 17 12
|. ] Ctusiatd e

The Company has a number of equity-settled, share-based employee incentive plans. Further mformatlon on share
awardtarrangements is given below. As the numbers of options granted or outstanding under share optlon plans and
the related charge to the Company profit and loss account is not significant, no further disclosures are included in
these ﬁnancxal statements.

Share-awards
Summary of arrangements and performance conditions

There are three plans under which share awards are currently granted — the two Experian Co-investment Plans (the
CIP) and the Experian Performance Share Plan (the PSP). Awards typically take the form of a grant of free shares
which vest over a service period of three years, with a maximum term generally of the same length and are settled by
share dlstrtbutlon The assumption at grant date for employee departures prior to vesting is 20% for certain
unconditional awards, which are only made under the PSP. Other details in respect of conditional awards are given
below.

Tuseale eg
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Experian Limited
Notes to the financial statements (continued)
for the )Tfear ended 31 March 2021

27 Share incentive plans (continued)

Performance conditions for vesting Assumed outcome at grant date

ot

CIP§ g 50% - Adjusted benchmark earnings per share 77.8%

50% - Cumulative Benchmark operating cash 77.2%

flow

PSP ~ 50% - Adjusted benchmark earnings per share 77.8%
25% - Return on capital employed 83%
25% - Total shareholder return (TRS) 61.8%

During the year ended 31 March 2021, a one-off award was made under the PSP to employees who are not eligible to
participate in existing share award schemes. These awards had no service or performance conditions atiached and
vested immediately. Participants who hold the shares received for three years will be entitled to receive two matching
shares for each share they originally received. The grant date assumption is that 30% of these matching awards will
not vest.,

CIPs

For the purposes of IFRS 2, the grant date for these plans is the start of the financial year in which performance is
assessed. This is before the number of shares to be awarded is determined but the underlying value of the award is
known; subject to the outcome of the performance condition. The value of awarded shares reflects the performance
outcome -assumed at the date of their issue to participants and is recognised over a four-year period.

The range of performance conditions for awards under these plans is set out below. The Profit performance condition
requires Benchmark PBT per share growth at the stated percentages over a three-year period for the awards made in
year enrided 31 March 2019. The profit condition for awards made in the years ended 31 March 2021 and 31 March
2020 require adjusted Benchmark EPS growth at the stated percentages over a three-year period. The cumulative
Benchmark operating cash flow performance condition (the ‘Cash flow condition’) is based on cumulative Benchmark
operating .cash flow over a three-year period. The period of assessment commences at the beginning of the financial
year of grant. These are not market-based performance conditions as defined by IFRS 2.

PSP

B TR VIV AaE
The range of Profit performance conditions for conditional awards under this plan is the same as those for the CIP
described above. For the years ended 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020 there is an additional Return on Capital
Employed condition (‘ROCE condition’). This condition requires average ROCE over the period at the percentages
stated below. Both these conditions are not market-based performance conditions as defined by IFRS 2 and are also
measured over a three-year period commencing at the beginning of the financial year of grant.

The TSR performance condition is considered a market-based performance condition as defined by IFRS 2. In valuing
the awarded shares, TSR is evaluated using a Monte Carlo simulation, with historic volatilities and correlations for
comparator companies measured over the three-year period preceding valuation and an implied volatility for Experian
plc ordinary shares.
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Experian Limited

Notes| to the financial statements (continued)
for thé sfje‘ar ended 31 March 2021

27 Share fpcenﬁve plans (continued)

e Year of award
;!

; i Year ended 31 March  Year ended 31 March  Year ended 31 March

2021 2020 2019
Pro?i ;biérformance condition
Mi :lx?mr,p 3% per annum } 5% per annum 5% per a@um .
Targcit : ! 4% per annum 6% per annum 6% per annum
Max1?1l1um 7% per annum 9% per annum 9% per annum
Caslillﬂio;jv condition
Mlm i u[L US$3.7bn US$3.7bn N/A
nrgj l ' 4& US$3.8bn US$3.8bn US$3.7bn
Maxllr'mu:m US$4.1bn US$4.1bn US$4.1bn
ROCE cgondition
Mini;rlniu]?n} 14.5% per annum 14.5% per annum -
Targ;eft| | 15.4% per annum 15.4% per annum caeom
Y
Maxﬁi:mu%m 16.0% per annum * 16.0% per annum ‘r-
A
Moveliléng’ in number of share awards outstanding - Number of awards
MER 2021 2020
0y >000 ’000
At 1 Al 1,977 2,208
New g1 ;'*,tfb 582 736
Forfeit;u re; (199) (148)
Vestiné b ’ (658) (779)
Canceilgtltions — performance conditions not met (25) 37N
Transfejr% . 45 3)
At31 yﬂfar'ch 1,722 1977

I ' =t

Share 'gflants are valued by reference to the market price on the day of award, with no modification for dividend
distributions or other factors, as participants are entitled to dividend distributions on awarded shares. Market-based
perforr‘rl'aln{»ie conditions are included in the fair value measurement on the grant date and are not revised for actual
performance. Awards granted in the year ended 31 March 2021 had a weighted average fair value per share of £26.84
(2020: £23/45).
t.
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Experian Limited _
Notes .tp the financial statements (continued) .
for the ;)_{eér ended 31 March 2021

Relat_e{l barty transactions

The Company provides some rights to intellectual property, and 1T development and support services, to certain
subsidiaries of the Group. It either charges those companies software licence fees, royalties or recharges costs to them
for the services provided. Amounts owed by group undertakings shown in note 17 include the following sums due by
subsidiaries of the Group which were not wholly-owned. These debtors are unsecured and no guarantees have been
received.

2021 2020

o £m £m
Experiap‘ Credit Information Company of India Private Limited 2 2
Experiatf Colombia S.A. 1 1
Experian Italia S.p.A. - 1

Experian South Africa (Pty) Limited 1 9

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Company processed transactions on behalf of Vector CM Holdings
(Cayman), L.P. (‘Vector’), an associate of the Group, and its subsidiaries. The Company does not receive any margin
on these tfansactions. At 31 March 2021, the Company owed Vector and its subsidiaries £Nil (2020: £0.5m). Further
detail on this arrangement can be found on page 204 of the Experian Annual Report.

{

Chargesf(:credits) made to those and other non-wholly owned companies during each of the last two years are
summarised below.

+

2021 2020

} : £m £m
Experiz'mé Elf.alia S.p.A. — management fee and recharges of shared costs 6 5
Experian Bureau de Credito SA — management fee and recharges of shared costs 2 2
ExperianTr :South Africa (Pty) Limited — management fee and recharges of shared cost 6 3
London & Country Mortgages Limited — digital media development services 1 S |
Other s'iu'-bsidiary undertakings
Other subsidiary undertakings are wholly-owned and their voting shares are directly held.
Name :o’t:' gcompzmy Country of incorporation
Clarit\éBiue, Inc. USA
Experian Holdings EURL France
Intemaﬁoﬂal Communication & Data Limited England & Wales
QAS Limited (in voluntary liquidation) England & Wales
Tallyman Australia Pty Limited (indirectly held) Australia
Tallyman Limited England & Wales
Techlighténment Ltd (in voluntary liquidation) England & Wales

Techlightenment Ltd was was placed in liquidation on 22 February 2021.
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Expenan Limited
Notesl to the financial statements (continued)

for the year ended 31 March 2021

8
Contl_ngencles

We ha\}e réceived a final enforcement notice from the UK Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO) with respect to
a 2018|aud1t of several companies on the use of data for marketing purposes under the EU General Data Protection
Regulanon (GDPR) which relates to our marketing services activities in the UK. We disagree with the ICO’s decision
and havesappealed during which time all requirements will be stayed. The appeal is scheduled to be heard in late 2021
and, atjthi is, stage we do not know what the final outcome will be, but it may require significant changes to business
processe 3} m our UK marketing services business if the enforcement notice is upheld in its current terms.

I
1

Ultimét'e:i parent undertaking and controlling party
The Com pany’s immediate parent undertaking is Experian Group Limited, incorporated in England and Wales.

The Company s ultimate parent undertaking and controlling party, Experian plc, is incorporated in Jersey. It is the
parent co mpany of the only group in which the results of the Company for the year were consolidated and copies of
its group financial statements may be obtained from the Company Secretary, Experian plc, Newenham House,
Northern} Cross, Malahide Road, Dublin 17, D17 AY61, Ireland.
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